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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

       
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff,    
 
        v. 
 
INTERMUNDO MEDIA, LLC, a limited liability 
company, also doing business as  
DELTA PRIME REFINANCE, 
DELTA PRIME MORTGAGES, and  
AMERICAN DREAM QUOTES 
 
 Defendant. 
 
 

 
Civil No. ____________ 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION, OTHER EQUITABLE 
RELIEF AND CIVIL PENALTIES 
  
 
  

 

 Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting upon notification and authorization to the 

Attorney General by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or “Commission”), by its 

undersigned attorneys, for its Complaint alleges as follows:   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is an action arising under Sections 5(a), 5(m)(1)(A), 13(b), and 16(a) of the 

Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), and 56(a); 

the 2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Public Law 111-8, 123 Stat. 524, 678 (Mar. 11, 2009) 

(“Omnibus Act”), as clarified by Section 511 of the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility 

and Disclosure Act of 2009, Public Law 111-24, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 2009) 

(“Credit Card Act”), and amended by Section 1097 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
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Consumer Protection Act, Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376, 2101-03 (July 21, 2010) (“Dodd-

Frank Act”), 12 U.S.C. § 5538; and Section 129(q) of the Truth In Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 

U.S.C. § 1639(q), to obtain a permanent injunction, civil penalties, and other equitable relief for 

Defendant’s acts or practices in violation of the following:  Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 45; the Mortgage Acts and Practices - Advertising Rule (“MAP Rule”), 16 C.F.R. Part 321, 

recodified as Mortgage Acts and Practices - Advertising (“Regulation N”), 12 C.F.R. Part 1014; 

and TILA, 15 U.S.C. 1601-1666j, and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 226, and 12 

C.F.R. Part 1026. 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), 

1345, and 1355; 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b), and 1639(q); and Section 626 of the Omnibus Act, as 

clarified by Section 511 of the Credit Card Act, and amended by Section 1097 of the Dodd-

Frank Act. 

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c), 1395(a), and 15 

U.S.C. § 53(b).  

PLAINTIFF 

4. This action is brought by the United States of America on behalf of the Federal 

Trade Commission.  The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government given 

statutory authority and responsibility by the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58.  The 

FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.  Pursuant to the Omnibus Act, § 626, as 

clarified by the Credit Card Act, § 511, the Commission promulgated the MAP Rule, 16 C.F.R. 
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Part 321, effective August 19, 2011, which among other things, prohibits misleading or 

deceptive commercial communications relating to mortgage credit products.  The Dodd-Frank 

Act, § 1097, transferred rulemaking authority over the MAP Rule to the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), which recodified the Rule as 12 C.F.R. Part 1014, effective Dec. 

30, 2011, and designated it “Regulation N.”  Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act § 1097, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5538, the FTC retains authority to enforce the MAP Rule and Regulation N.  The FTC also 

enforces TILA, 15 U.S.C. 1601-1666j, and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 226 

and 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, which among other things, requires the uniform and standardized 

disclosure of key terms in offering credit.   

DEFENDANT 

5. Defendant Intermundo Media, LLC (“Intermundo”), also doing business as Delta 

Prime Refinance, Delta Prime Mortgages, and American Dream Quotes, is a limited liability 

company with its principal place of business at 1433 Pearl Street, 2nd Floor, Boulder, Colorado 

80302.  Intermundo transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United 

States.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, 

Intermundo has advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold mortgage credit products to consumers 

throughout the United States.  Defendant is a “person” as defined by the MAP Rule, Regulation 

N, and Regulation Z.  16 C.F.R. § 321.2(f), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, 12 C.F.R. § 226.2(a)(22), 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(22).   
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COMMERCE 

6. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendant has maintained a substantial 

course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 44.  
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11. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant has 

represented in advertisements that consumers can refinance their mortgages at specific annual 

percentage rates (“APR” or “APRs”).   

12. In truth and in fact, the advertised rates were not actually available to consumers 

who responded to Defendant’s advertising, or Defendant had no reasonable basis for advertising 

such rates as available to consumers. 

13. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant also has 

represented that it offers “free” mortgage refinancing to consumers.  For example, Defendant has 

placed the following advertisements with third-party advertising networks: 

 

and: 
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and: 

. 

14. In addition, in numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, 

Defendant has represented that it offers mortgage refinancing with “no hidden fees.”  
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15. In truth and in fact, in many if not all instances, the mortgage credit products 

actually available to consumers carry significant fees or costs, including closing costs, 

origination points, and/or refinancing fees.  In many instances, such fees or costs amount to 

several thousand dollars, and are often due upon the origination of the mortgage credit product.  

Many of Defendant’s advertisements do not disclose the existence of such fees or costs at all, 

and those that disclose these fees or costs do so in small type that is far below where consumers 

click to respond to the advertising. 

16. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant also has 

represented that consumers may obtain mortgage refinancing without regard to their respective 

credit histories.  For example, Defendant has made the following representation in 

advertisements: 

“Lower Your Mortgage Payment 
Save up to $2000/Year*! 
No SSN Required – No Credit Check – Completely Free 
As low as 2.60%**” 
 

17. In truth and in fact, in many if not all instances, the mortgage credit products 

actually available to consumers ultimately require them to provide a social security number and 

submit to a credit check, and consumers who do not have good or excellent credit are unlikely to 

be approved for mortgage refinancing. 

18. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant also has 

advertised mortgage credit products as fixed-rate products when, in truth and in fact, such 

mortgage credit products have an adjustable rate of interest and Defendant does not disclose this 

fact. 
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19. In addition, Defendant has failed to keep the following records for a period of 

twenty-four (24) months from the last date Defendant made or disseminated a commercial 

communication regarding a mortgage credit product: 

a. Copies of all materially different commercial communications that Defendant 

made or disseminated regarding any term of any mortgage credit product; and 

b. Documents evidencing or describing all mortgage credit pro
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22. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant has 

advertised a simple annual rate or periodic rate more conspicuously than the annual percentage 

rate. 

23. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, the phrase 

“Adjustable-Rate Mortgage,” “Variable-Rate Mortgage,” or “ARM” has not appeared at all in 

these advertisements, or not as conspicuously as the word “fixed.”  Additionally, each use of the 

word “fixed” is not accompanied by an equally prominent and closely proximate statement of the 

time period for which the rate is fixed, and the fact that the rate may vary or the payment may 

increase after that period.   

24. In numerous instances and at times relevant to this complaint, Defendant has 

advertised the period of repayment for a loan without stating:  (i) the terms of repayment, which 

reflect the repayment obligations over the full term of the loan, including any balloon payment, 

and (ii) the annual percentage rate and if the rate may be increased after consummation. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT 

25. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce.”   

26. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive 

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act. 
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COUNT I: 
Unsubstantiated Representations Regarding  

Payment Reduction 
 

27. In numerous instances, Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that consumers could reduce their yearly mortgage payments by 

$2,000 per year or more through Defendant’s mortgage and refinancing lead generation service. 

28. The representations set forth in Paragraph 27 were not substantiated at the time 

they were made.    

29. Therefore, the making of the representations as set forth in Paragraph 27 

constitutes a deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

COUNT II: 
False or Unsubstantiated Representations Regarding 

Available Annual Percentage Rates 
 

30. In numerous instances, Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that consumers ma
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37. In truth and in fact, in many instances, the mortgage credit products actually 

available to consumers through Defendant’s mortgage and refinancing lead generation service 

have ultimately required consumers to provide a social security number and submit to a credit 

check, and consumers without good or excellent credit have been unlikely to be approved for 

these mortgage credit products. 

38. Therefore, the making of the representations as set forth in Paragraph 36 

constitutes a deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE MAP RULE 

39. In July 2011, the FTC issued the MAP Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 321, which became 

effective on August 19, 2011, and which prohibited deceptive claims in mortgage advertising.  

The MAP Rule was subsequently recodified as Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. Part 1014, which 

became effective Dec. 30, 2011.  

40. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define “commercial communication” as “any 

written or oral statement, illustration, or depiction . . . that is desi
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telemarketing firms, program-length commercial (“infomercial”), the internet, cellular network, 

or any other medium.”  16 C.F.R. § 321.2(a), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

41. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define a “person” as “any individual, group, 

unincorporated association, limited or general partnership, corporation, or other business entity.”  

16 C.F.R. § 321.2(f), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2.   

42. The MAP Rule and Regulation N define “term” as “any of the fees, costs, 

obligations, or characteristics of or associated with the product.  It also includes any of the 

conditions on or related to the availability of the product.”  16 C.F.R. § 321.2(g), 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.2.   

43. Pursuant to the Omnibus Act, § 626, 123 Stat. at 678, as clarified by the Credit 

Card Act, § 511, 123 Stat. at 1763-64 and amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, § 1097, 124 Stat. at 

2102-03, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and pursuant to Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

57a(d)(3), a violation of the MAP Rule constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice in or 

affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  

COUNT V: 
Misrepresentations Regarding Annual Percentage Rates 

 
44. The MAP Rule and Regulation N prohibit any person from making any material 

misrepresentation in any commercial communication regarding the annual percentage rate, 

simple annual rate, periodic rate, or any other rate associated with a mortgage credit product.  16 

C.F.R. § 321.3(b), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(b). 

45. In numerous instances, in commercial communications regarding the terms of 

mortgage credit products, Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 
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implication, that a specific annual percentage rate is associated with a mortgage credit product 

available to consumers through Defendant’s mortgage and refinancing lead generation service. 

46. In truth and in fact, in many instances, a mortgage credit product with the 

advertised annual percentage rate has not been available to consumers through Defendant’s 

mortgage and refinancing lead generation service.  

47. Therefore, Defendant’s representations as set forth in Paragraph 45 constitute 

material misrepresentations regarding a term of a mortgage credit product in violation of the 

MAP Rule and Regulation N,  16 C.F.R. § 321.3(b), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(b). 

COUNT VI: 
Misrepresentations Regarding the Fees or 

Costs of a Mortgage Credit Product 
 

48. The MAP Rule and Regulation N prohibit any person from making any material 

misrepresentation in any commercial communication regarding the existence, nature, or amount 

of fees or costs to the consumer associated with a mortgage credit product, including but not 

limited to misrepresentations that no fees are charged. 16 C.F.R. § 321.3(c), 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(c). 

49. In numerous instances, in commercial communications regarding the terms of 

mortgage credit products, Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that no fees are charged for a mortgage credit product, including that “free” 

mortgage refinancing is available to consumers through Defendant’s mortgage and refinancing 

lead generation service. 
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50. In truth and in fact, in many instances, the mortgage credit products actually 
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check, and consumers without good or excellent credit have been unlikely to be approved for 

these mortgage credit products. 

55. Therefore, Defendant’s representations as set forth in Paragraph 53 constitute 

material misrepresentations regarding a term of a mortgage credit product in violation of the 

MAP Rule and Regulation N, 16 C.F.R. § 321.3(q), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(q). 

COUNT VIII: 
Misrepresentations Regarding the  

Variability of Interest of a Mortgage Credit Product 
 

56. The MAP Rule and Regulation N prohibit any person from making any material 

misrepresentation in any commercial communication regarding the variability of interest, 

payments, or other terms of the mortgage credit product, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations using the word “fixed.”  16 C.F.R. § 321.3(g), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(g). 

57. In numerous instances, in commercial communications regarding the terms of 

mortgage credit products, Defendant has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that a mortgage credit product is 
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a. Copies of all materially different commercial communications regarding any 

term of any mortgage credit product made or disseminated by Defendant; and 

b. Documents describing or evidencing any term of any mortgage credit product 

available to consumers.  

62. Therefore, Defendant has violated the MAP Ad Rule and Regulation N, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 321.5(a)(1)(2), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5(a)(1)(2). 

VIOLATIONS OF TILA AND REGULATION Z 

63. Under TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666j, and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 226, 12 

C.F.R. Part 1026, persons who advertise “closed-end credit,” as defined in 12 C.F.R. § 
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66. Regulation Z defines a “person” as “a natural person or an organization, including 

a corporation, partnership, proprietorship, association, cooperative, estate, trust, or government 

unit.” 12 C.F.R. § 226.2(a)(22), 12 C.F.R. §1026.2(a)(22).   

67. TILA Section 129(q), 15 U.S.C. § 1639(q), gives the Plaintiff and the 

Commission authority to seek civil penalties for violations of the provisions of Regulation Z that 

were promulgated pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1639(l)(2), including Sections 226.24(i) and 

1026.24(i), 12 C.F.R. §§ 226.24(i), 1026.24(i). 

68. Pursuant to TILA, a violation of TILA constitutes a violation of the FTC Act.  15 

U.S.C. § l607(c).    

COUNT X: 
Unavailable Credit Terms, Annual Percentage Rate, Terms of Repayment, and Advertising 

Adjustable-Rate Mortgages as Fixed-Rate Mortgages 
 

69. In numerous instances, Defendant has advertised closed-end credit to consumers 

by disseminating advertisements for mortgage loans.  In credit advertisements, Defendant has: 

a. Advertised credit terms other than those terms that actually are or will be 

arranged or offered by the creditor, in violation of Section 142 of TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1662(1), Section 226.24(a) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226.24(a), 

Section 1026.24(a) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(a); 

b. Advertised a rate of finance charge without disclosing that rate as an annual 

percentage rate, using that term or the abbreviation “APR,” and, if the annual 

percentage rate may be increased after consummation, disclosing that fact, in 

violation of Section 144(c) of TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(c), Section 226.24(c) 

Case 1:14-cv-02529   Document 1   Filed 09/12/14   USDC Colorado   Page 20 of 24



 
Page 21 of 24 

 
 
 

of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226.24(c), Section 1026.24(c) of Regulation Z, 

12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(c);  

c. Advertised a simple annual rate or periodic rate more conspicuously than the 

annual percentage rate, in violation of Section 226.24(c) of Regulation Z, 12 

C.F.R. § 226.24(c), Section 1026.24(c) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.24(c);  

d. Advertised the period of repayment of a loan without clearly and 

conspicuously stating the annual percentage rate and the terms of repayment, 

in violation of Section 144(d) of TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(d), Section 

226.24(d) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226.24(d), Section 1026.24(d) of 

Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(d); and. 

e. Used the word “fixed” in advertisements for variable-rate mortgages where:  

(i) the phrase “Adjustable-Rate Mortgage,” “Variable-Rate Mortgage,” or 

“ARM” does not appear at all in the advertisement, or not as conspicuously as 

the word “fixed;” and (ii) each use of the word “fixed” is not accompanied by 

an equally prominent and closely proximate statement of the time period for 

which the payment is fixed, and the fact that the rate may vary after that 

period, in violation of Section 226.24(i) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

226.24(i), Section 1026.24(i) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(i).    
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75. Each instance since August 19, 2011, in which Defendants failed to comply with 

the MAP Rule and Regulation N in one or more of the ways described above constitutes a 

separate violation for which Plaintiff seeks monetary civil penalties.   

76. Section 5(m)(1)(A) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m)(1)(A), and Section 4 of 

the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended, 

authorizes this Court to award monetary civil penalties of not more than $16,000 for each 

violation of the MAP Rule, Regulation N, and Sections 226.24(i) and 1026.24(i) of Regulation 

Z.    

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff United States of America, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(m)(1)(A) 

and 53(b), the Omnibus Act, and the Court’s own equitable powers, respectfully requests that the 

Court: 

A.  Enter a judgment against Defendant and in favor of Plaintiff for each law 

violation alleged in this Complaint; 

B.  Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act, the 

MAP Rule, Regulation N, TILA, and Regulation Z by Defendant; 

C.  Award Plaintiff monetary civil penalties for each violation of the MAP Rule, 

Regulation N, and Sections 226.24(i) and 1026.24(i) of Regulation Z; and 

D.  Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.  
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